THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Carmen T. Mullin, Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2016-001278

RECEIVED

OCT 13 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Mildred Ann Kinghorn as
Trustee for the Mildred Ann
Kinghorn Trust, dated 28
April 2004

Respondent,

v.

George Sakakini,

Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

M. Richardson Hyman, Jr.
Post Office Box 127
Charleston, South Carolina 29402
(843) 416 1047
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ISSUING FORM 4 ORDERS WHICH FAILED TO INCLUDE DETAILED FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW?
- II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ISSUING A VAGUE ORDER IN VIOLATION OF THE DUE PROCESS PROTECTIONS OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA AND UNITED STATES CONSTITUTIONS?
- III. DID, TO THE EXTENT *ARGUENDO* THAT THE ALLEGED SETTLEMENT IS A VALID SETTLEMENT, THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN CONSTRUING IT RIPE FOR ENFORCEMENT
 - A. Was it Reversible Error for the Trial Court to Improperly Construe the Alleged Settlement by Ignoring Specific Language Bargained for by the Parties?
 - B. Did the Trial Court's Construction of the Settlement Create a Manifest Absurdity which was Error?
 - C. Did the Trial Court's Construction of the Alleged Settlement Render Performance Impossible, and was therefore Error?
- IV. DID, TO THE EXTENT *ARGUENDO* THAT THE ALLEGED SETTLEMENT IS A VALID SETTLEMENT, THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE AS RESPONDENT, WHO BORE THE BURDEN OF PROOF, FAILED TO MEET HER BURDEN?
 - A. Did the Trial Court Err in Finding the Alleged Settlement Ripe for Enforcement when Respondent Failed to Present Competent Evidence Supporting the Conclusion that the Alleged Settlement's Express Contingencies had been Satisfied?
 - B. Did the Trial Court Err when it Ruled for Respondent when the only Evidence offered by Respondent was Impermissible Hearsay?
 - C. Did the Trial Court Err by Accepting Hearsay and Non-Existent Evidence, and Refusing Competent Evidence?
- V. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT DUE PROCESS WHEN IT DISMISSED THE ACTION WITHOUT CONSIDERING HIS MOTION FOR DISCOVERY AND A HEARING ON THE QUESTION OF CONTRACT OR NO CONTRACT?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On 10 March 2015, Respondent filed this action against Appellant over a boundary dispute between the parties' properties. The matter was submitted to mediation, and ostensibly a settlement was reached at mediation. The alleged settlement was contingent. On 22 February 2016, the Respondent filed a motion to compel the alleged settlement. A hearing was held on the matter. Subsequent to the hearing, and based on information which came out at the hearing, Appellant moved the court for a full evidentiary hearing on the question of whether there was a meeting of the minds and an actual settlement. The court ignored the motion, and ruled by Form 4 Order for the Respondent. A timely motion for reconsideration was filed, and the trial court again ignored the outstanding motion, upheld its earlier order, and dismissed the action. Appellant appealed.

FACTS

Appellant and Respondent are neighbors within the same subdivision. (See generally the parties' pleadings.)

Both Appellant's and Respondent's properties are covered by certain covenants and restrictions which are recorded and set forth in the Beaufort County Register of Deeds at Deeds at Book No.: 1262, at Page No.: 553. (Affidavit of Appellant, dated 18 March 2016, Para. 6, and exhibits thereto.)

Among these covenants and restrictions, the following easements are created, to wit:

Section 7.6 Easement Across Adjacent Residential Lot.

The proximity of the Homesites to the Lot line necessitates the entry into adjacent Lots by Property Owners for the purpose of maintaining their own Homesites and landscaping. By Acceptance of a Deed, each Owner of a Lot (for purposes of this Section 7.6, "Servient Lot") grants the adjacent Property Owner whose Homesite runs within five feet of the Lot's common boundary line (for purposes Of this Section 7.6. "Dominant Lot"), a maintenance easement which shall run parallel to and five feet inside of the Lot's

common boundary lines. This maintenance easement is to permit the maintenance and repair of the Homesite and landscaping on the Dominant Lot, and to permit reasonable water runoff and general drainage for the Dominant Lot, but for no other purpose. Therefore, this five foot deep maintenance easement shall extend in length only along the distance of the Homesite plus five additional feet on each end of the Homesite, and this maintenance easement shall not extend along the entire distance of the common boundary line. All use of this easement shall be in a reasonable manner and at reasonable hours. Any dispute regarding the exercise of such easement rights shall be settled by decision of the Declarant, its successors and assigns. Any damage caused to the Servient Lot or Homesite thereon by use of this easement by the Owner of the Dominant Lot, shall be repaired or replaced at the expense of the Owner of the Dominant Lot.

and

Section 7.7 Easements for Eaves Landscaping and other Projections.

Due to the proximity of the Homesites to the Lot lines the eaves and other similar projections of some Homesites or garages may encroach upon adjacent lots. Therefore, the Declarant hereby reserves for purpose of this Section 7.7, The "Servient ; lot", by Acceptance of a Deed, grants to the Owner of each adjacent Lot (for purposes of this Section 7.7., the "Dominant Lot" a perpetual easement over such portions of each Servient Lot as is necessary to accommodate the eaves, landscaping and other similar projections as originally constructed by the Declarant to permit the existence of such encroachments. The easement granted hereby, however shall not intrude more than three feet into any Servient Lot. In the event of destruction of the Homesite on the Dominant Lot, the easement granted hereby shall permit the eaves and other similar projections of any replacement Homesite constructed on the Dominant lot in Accordance with this Declaration to encroach upon the adjacent Servient Lot to the same extent as the Homesite originally constructed on the Dominant Lot by the Declarant. (Covenants and Restrictions excerpts incorporated into Affidavit of Appellant, dated 18 March 2016, Exhibit 3.)

Appellant and Respondent entered into a dispute over the lot line between their respective properties, and this suit was filed in regard to that matter. (See generally parties' pleadings.)

Appellant and Respondent held mediation pursuant to court rules, and a contingent settlement was believed to have been reached, though subsequent events have cast doubt as to whether or not the parties actually had a meeting of the minds. (See generally Alleged Settlement.)

The alleged settlement requires Appellant to “extinguish” the above two easements, and any other easements which his property, as the dominant estate, may have over the Respondent’s property. It also required Appellant to prepare and deliver a deed to Respondent conveying fee to all property north of a new property line. (Alleged Settlement, Para 3.) The alleged settlement also requires Respondent to convey a one foot wide strip to Appellant pursuant to a prepared plat. (Alleged Settlement, Para 1.) The alleged settlement also requires Respondent to build a fence on the new lot line. (Alleged Settlement, Para 2.)

The alleged settlement is wholly contingent and expressly states that:

The entire agreement is contingent and subject to approval by the governing boards of the Picket Fences POA or Board of Review or any other appropriate authority that may be required to approve the above items 1, 2 & 3. (Alleged Settlement Agreement, Para. 4.)

Prior to the initiation of this action, the Appellant granted a mortgage to Bank of America on his property which is attached as Exhibit 2 to his affidavit. (Affidavit of Appellant, dated 18 March 2016, Para. 3 and exhibits thereto.)

After the mediation, the Court dismissed the action on 12 February 2016 by Form 4 Order. (Order of the Court Dismissing Action, dated 16 February 2016.)

On 22 February 2016, during the time that the case was dismissed, the Respondent filed a motion to enforce the settlement allegedly reached during the mediation. (See generally Respondent’s Motion to Enforce Settlement, filed 22 February 2016).

At the time Respondent filed her motion to enforce the settlement, by her own admission, none of the contingencies predicate to enforcement of the settlement had been satisfied. (Respondent’s Affidavit of 22 February 2016, Paras. 7-12.)

On 3 March 2016, the Respondent moved to restore the case to the docket. (See Respondent's Motion to Restore, filed 3 March 2016.) On that same date, a consent order was entered restoring the case to the active roster. (Consent Order, dated 3 March 2016.)

A hearing was scheduled on the Motion which was filed subsequent to the case being dismissed, and prior to it being restored to the docket.

At the hearing of the Respondent's motion to enforce the settlement, argument of counsel for the Respondent appeared to suggest that the parties may legitimately have failed to have had a meeting of the minds. (See generally transcript in which counsel argued that the understanding had by Appellant at the time of the execution, as to which he testified in his affidavit, was not the understanding had by Respondent or her counsel at the time of the execution.)

None of the pleadings or three affidavits submitted by Respondent prior to the hearing suggested that there was a question of whether there was a meeting of the minds in regard to the alleged settlement.

None of the affidavits before the Court demonstrated that all of the contingencies predicate for settlement had been satisfied; and to the contrary, one of the affidavits affirmatively demonstrated that not all of the contingencies had been satisfied, to wit, Bank of America (as mortgagee) approval of the settlement, and HOA approval of the fence placement. (Affidavit of Appellant, dated 30 March 2016, Para 10, and 18 March 2016, Para. 8.)

As to the other contingencies, Respondent testified by affidavit, proffering hearsay testimony to which a timely objection was made, that the HOA's attorney had opined that the HOA could approve the settlement, but failed to testify that the HOA ever did actually approve the settlement. (Affidavit of Respondent, 3 March 2016, Para 3.) Respondent never submitted testimony that any authority, much less the HOA ever approved the fence placement.

Prior to the trial court ruling on the Respondent's motion to enforce the settlement, Appellant moved the court for limited discovery on the question of whether there was a meeting of the minds based on Respondent's arguments at the hearing on matter, and also for a hearing on the issue of contract / no contract, or in this instance, settlement / no settlement, and to hold the ruling on Respondent's motion to enforce in abeyance. (See Motion of the Appellant, filed 18 April 2016.) The trial court ignored this motion, and issued its form order on Respondent's motion to enforce with no findings of fact or analysis of the case or the law, ultimately granting the Respondent's motion. The order stated that it did not terminate the case. (Order of the Court, 22 April 2016.)

Appellant timely moved for reconsideration, again asking the trial court to address the Appellant's outstanding motion. (See Appellant's Notice of Motion and Motion for Reconsideration and / or for Court to Alter or Amend Judgment, filed 28 April 2016.). The trial court, without hearing on the motion, summarily dismissed the motion for reconsideration. This dismissal stated that it did terminate the action. The trial court noted briefly in the order that the dismissal mooted the Appellant's motion, which again was never heard or considered by the trial court. (See Order of the Court, dated 25 May 2016.) The Appellant appealed.

DISCUSSION

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ISSUING FORM 4 ORDERS WHICH FAILED TO INCLUDE DETAILED FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The trial court entered two Form 4 orders. (Order of 22 April and Order of 25 May 2016.) Neither order contains any findings of fact. Neither order contains any conclusions of law. This Honorable Court, in the case of *Bowen v. Lee Process Systems Co.*, 342 S.C. 232, 536 S.E.2d 86 (Ct. App., 2000) explained in very rational detail the dangers and pitfalls of such

empty Form 4 orders. In *Bowen*, the issue dealt expressly with summary judgments. *Bowen* was overruled in *Woodson v. DLI Props., LLC*, 406 S.C. 517, 753 S.E.2d 428 (2014) because of express language in SCRPC 52 relating to summary judgment motions, which states that “[t]he court is not required to state findings or conclusions when ruling on a motion under Rule 12 or 56” SCRPC 52(3). The same provision goes on to say that it is not necessary for a trial court to state findings or conclusions for “any other motion” unless the “**rules provide otherwise...**” *Id.* (Emphasis added). What was before the trial court in this case was a **motion** to compel settlement. Therefore, it would initially appear to be excluded from any requirement for specific findings of fact or conclusions of law because it was a **motion**.

However, in this instance, the “rules provide otherwise.” SCRPC 52(1) states that

In General. In an action tried on the facts without a jury or with an advisory jury, the court must find the facts specially and state its conclusions of law separately. The findings and conclusions may be stated on the record after the close of the evidence or may appear in an opinion or a memorandum of decision filed by the court. Judgment must be entered under Rule 58.

When one considers the nature of the motion before the court, it becomes manifest that it is “an action tried on facts without a jury... ;” and as such, under SCRPC 52(1), the court must have presented findings of fact and conclusions of law which it did not.

While South Carolina has not specifically dissected the cause of action, its sister courts have. Citing *Pathway Financial v. Schade*, 793 S.W.2d 464, 469 (Mo.App.1990), the Missouri Court of Appeals noted that “[a]lthough there is no rule defining the process for enforcing an agreement settling a pending case, one court-approved procedural device is a motion to enforce settlement.” *McKean v. St. Louis County*, 964 S.W.2d 470, 471 (Mo. App. E.D., 1998). “A motion to compel settlement, in effect, adds to a pending action a collateral action for specific performance of the settlement agreement.” *Landmark Frederick v. Heim*, 943 S.W.2d 343, 347

(Mo.App. S.D.1997). Therefore, while the motion filed by Respondent may nominally have been a motion, it is *de facto* a collateral cause of action which must be “tried upon the facts.”

Under South Carolina jurisprudence, settlement agreements are viewed as contracts. *Harris-Jenkins v. Nissan Car Mart, Inc.*, 348 S.C. 171, 177, 557 S.E.2d 708, 711 (Ct. App., 2001). Thus, the “enforcement of the terms of a settlement agreement is a matter of contract law.” *Pee Dee Stores, Inc. v. Doyle*, 381 S.C. 234, 672 S.E.2d 799, 802, (Ct. App., 2008).

Therefore, in an action to compel a settlement, whether it is called by the name of a motion or otherwise, a party seeking compulsion adds “a collateral action for specific performance”¹ of the settlement agreement. This collateral action must be enforced in accordance with South Carolina contract law. Under South Carolina contract law, the trial court was required to have the Respondent prove her case, which meant to establish at a minimum that there was a contract, or a valid meeting of the minds which was supported by full fair and valuable consideration; and that the agreement was ripe for execution at that time and without unsatisfied contingencies. This contract action is a “collateral **action**” which the trial court “tried on the facts without a jury... .”² As a result, it unambiguously falls under the mandate of SCRCP 52(1) which requires detailed findings of fact and conclusions of law, and not under SCRCP 52(3) which generally exempts motions. This is particularly so in light of the fact that subsection 3 only exempts motions which are not covered by other parts of the Rules. This motion, because of its *oyer et terminer* nature, is clearly covered by subsection 1.

Although *Bowen* was overruled in regard to summary judgments, it is still applicable to non-summary judgment motions otherwise excluded from SCRCP 52(3) by virtue of SCRCP 52(1). The *Bowen* Court quite correctly reasoned that

¹ *Landmark Frederick*, 943 S.W.2d at 347.

² SCRCP 52(1).

an appellate court must determine whether the trial court's stated grounds for its decision are supported by the record. It is our duty to undertake a thorough and meaningful review of the trial court's order and the entire record on appeal.

Where, as here, the trial court fails to articulate the reasons for its action on the record or enter a written order outlining its rationale, we simply cannot perform our designated function. *Bowen*, 342 S.C. at 235-36, 536 S.E.2d at 87-88.

The trial court's Form 4 orders completely fail to provide this Honorable Court with facts and accompanying legal analysis sufficient to permit meaningful appellate review. Accordingly, the Court should remand the deficient orders to the trial court for action in accordance with SCRCP 52(1) as set forth in *Bowen* and elsewhere in the law of this State.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ISSUING A VAGUE ORDER IN VIOLATION OF THE DUE PROCESS PROTECTIONS OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA AND UNITED STATES CONSTITUTIONS.

The Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution prevents any state, including a court of any state, from taking a person's life, liberty or property without due process of law. This same protection is included in § 3 of Article I of the South Carolina Constitution. While the well-known due process doctrine of vagueness is generally applicable to statutes or legislative enactments, it is equally applicable to the orders of a court. See generally, *In re Shaun R.*, 188 Cal.App.4th 1129, 116 Cal.Rptr.3d 84, 10 Cal. Daily Op. Serv. 12, 658 (Cal. App., 2011). See also, *People v. Bostic*, 10 Misc 3d 775, 807 N.Y.S.2d 280, 2005 NY Slip Op 25510 (N.Y. Dist. Ct., 2005) (Clearly demonstrates that an order of a court is subject to due process and that vagueness violates the same.) “[T]he underpinning of a vagueness challenge is the due process concept of ‘fair warning.’” *In re Sheena K.*, 40 Cal.4th at p. 890, 55 Cal.Rptr.3d 716, 153 P.3d 282 (2007). In South Carolina it is well-settled that a person may not be compelled to obey an ambiguous order. See generally *Welchel v. Boyter*, 260 S.C. 418, 196 S.E.2d 496, 498 (1973); *American Fed. Bank v. Kateman*, 335 S.C. 273, 516 S.E.2d 1 (Ct.App.1999); and *County of Greenville v. Mann*, 556 S.E.2d 383, 347 S.C. 427 (2001). (These

cases focus on vague orders being enforced through contempt, but establish the premise that due process precludes enforcement of vague orders.)

“The rule of fair warning consists of ‘the due process concepts of preventing arbitrary law enforcement and providing adequate notice to potential offenders’... protections that are embodied in the due process clauses of the federal and California Constitutions.” See *In re Shaun R.*, 188 Cal.App.4th 1129, 116 Cal.Rptr.3d 64, 10 Cal. Daily Op. Serv. 12, 658. To the extent that the trial court issued an order enforcing the alleged settlement, the trial court was under a duty to specifically direct the Appellant as to what he should do, or what he should refrain from doing. However, in this case, the only thing that the order states is that “Plaintiff’s motion to enforce the settlement, heard by this Court on March 30, 2016, is hereby granted.”

Merely saying that the court was granting the motion is simply not enough to satisfy the mandates of due process under the circumstances. If the trial court is compelling the Appellant to do something, the Appellant is entitled to be specifically instructed as to what he should or should not do as his failure to comply would leave him subject to contempt of court.

The defective order cannot be salvaged by looking outside of it to the motion itself to supply the conduct Appellant is expected to perform or refrain from performing. The only thing the motion seeks is an “Order enforcing the settlement reached February 5, 2016, and further, awarding Plaintiff Attorney’s Fees; and other costs associated with the enforcement of the settlement reached on February 5, 2016.” (See Respondent’s Motion) The motion does not specifically request any specific course of action to be performed or to be restrained. There was a lot of talk about quitclaims in Respondent’s affidavits and at the hearing. Of course the settlement itself does not mention the word “quitclaim.” Is Appellant to give a quitclaim under the order in question? The motion asked for attorneys’ fees. The order granted the Respondent’s

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