THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM THE BEAUFORT COUNTY COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CARMEN MULLEN, PRESIDING JUDGE

CASE NO. 2015-CP-07-00597
APPELATE CASE NO. 2016-001278

RECEIVED
JAN 26 2017
SC Court of Appeals

MILDRED ANNE KINGHORN AS TRUSTEE
FOR THE MILDRED ANNE KINGHORN
TRUST, DATED APRIL 28, 2004,

Respondent,

-v-

GEORGE C. SAKAKINI,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

C. Scott Graber, Esquire
Graber Law Firm
605 Carteret Street
Beaufort, SC 29902
843-524-8204
843-524-2354 Fax
cscottgraber@gmail.com

Attorney for Respondent

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

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

DISCUSSION

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ISSUING FORM 4 ORDERS WHICH FAILED TO INCLUDE DETAILED FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW.

South Carolina Rule 52(a) says "in all actions tried upon the facts without a jury or with an advisory jury, the Court shall find the facts specially and state separately its conclusions of law thereon Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law are unnecessary on decisions of Motions under Rules 12 or 15 or any other Motion except as provided in Rule 41(b)."

Rule 52(a) says no findings are required under Rule 12 (Motions to Dismiss); and Rule 56 (Summary Judgment); or "any other Motion except as provided in Rule 41(b)". We are left with the plain language that says no findings of fact are required for "any other Motion" except Motions dealing with involuntary dismissal.

Appellant's Brief appears to recite the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure rather than the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. Appellant cites "SCRCP 52(3)" which appears to be Federal Rule 52(a)(3) which says:

(3) For a Motion. The Court is not required to state findings or conclusions when ruling on a Motion under Rule 12 or 56 or, unless these rules provide otherwise, on any other Motion.

Then Appellant goes to "SCRCP 52(1)" which appears to be Federal Rule 52(a)(1) wherein he uses this federal language to elevate the instant Motion to "an action tried in facts without a jury". In short, Appellant characterizes or indentifies Federal Rule as the South Carolina Rule. The South Carolina Court of Appeals utilizes the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure not the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

The proper rule in this case is SCRCP 52; not 52(a)(3) or 52(a) (1) of the Federal Rules. SCRCP 52 says that

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law are unnecessary on decisions of Motions under Rule 12 or 56 or "any other Motion" Except as provided in Rule 41(b).

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ISSUING A VAGUE ORDER IN VIOLATION OF DUE PROCESS PROTECTIONS OF THE SC AND US CONSTITUTIONS.

Appellant argues that the Order is vague and that it is well-settled that "a person may not be compelled to obey an ambiguous Order". Further, Appellant complains the Motion does not give him "fair warning".

The Motion sought to enforce the Settlement Agreement entered into on February 5, 2016. The Appellant signed the original Agreement at the end of the mediation, as did his Counsel, but now (apparently) he finds the document he signed vague and ambiguous.

This argument necessarily takes us to the actual words of the Agreement. The first proviso says Plaintiff will convey a one foot wide strip of land (to George Sakakini) and this new boundary will be platted by David Gasque. The Settlement Agreement recites the relocation of the boundary line (between the parties) to a point one (1) foot North of the existing line. (Item I of the Settlement Agreement, R. p. 100). It requires that Appellant give Respondent a deed to any and all property to the North of that newly established boundary line (Item 3 of the Settlement Agreement, R. P. 101) It requires that Appellant pay David Gasque (the surveyor) for platting and marking the new boundary line between the respective litigants.

It is interesting that Appellant has never claimed vagueness, ambiguity or confusion prior to this appeal. It is instructive that Appellant, in his emails of February 17, 2016 and February 23, 2016, does not complain about vagueness, or ambiguity or the inability to understand the Settlement Agreement.

Rather Appellant says to (Lashea Dubois, Picket Fences HOA) that "**I did not have legal authority to sign it**" because he needed express consent of the HOA". Further, he says that he needed the "**express consent of the lien holder**". (See Appellant's e-mail to LaShea Dubois on February 17, 201, R. p. 65)

Likewise on February 23, 2016, Appellant says to the HOA that, "**I still need your lawyers to opine on the legality of that Settlement Agreement I signed and sent to the HOA**".

Significantly, the Appellant does not say he was confused; or did not understand a particular provision of the Settlement Agreement at Mediation. But after the Mediation was over Appellant admits he went to another lawyer who told him that both the Bank of America and Picket Fences needed to be parties. Thus, when he came to the Motion Hearing on March 30, 2016, Appellant's primary argument was that Bank of America needed to be a party and needed to approve the extinguishment of the maintenance easement. But it is important that this allegation--and any alleged confusion--arose after the Mediation and came with the acknowledgement that;

"If I could re-live one day of my life, it would be 5 Feb 2015. I cannot begin to adequately express my profound regret by signing that document." (Email from George Sakakini to Lashea Dubois dated February 17, 2016, R. p. 65)

This is not confusion. This is learning after the Mediation, that one has an argument that may relieve one from the bargain he made on February 5, 2016. This is regret, not confusion.

III. TO THE EXTENT, *ARGUENDO*, THAT THE ALLEGED SETTLEMENT IS A VALID SETTLEMENT, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONSTRUING IT RIPE FOR ENFORCEMENT.

A. THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY CONSTITUTED THE ALLEGED SETTLEMENT BY IGNORING SPECIFIC LANGUAGE BARGAINED FOR BY THE PARTIES WHICH WAS REVERSIBLE ERROR.

Appellant argues that the Trial Court committed reversible error by "ignoring specific language bargained by the parties". Appellant says the specific language ignored was "or any other appropriate authority that may be required to approve items 1, 2 and 3." Appellant says these words meant, as far as he was concerned, approval by the Bank of America. Appellant presented an affidavit on March 30, 2016, that said "I suspected that there may be third parties

whose consent was necessary, and whom we have been overlooking at the mediation".
(Appellant's Affidavit dated March 30, 2016, R. p. 147)

By saying "and whom we have been overlooking at the mediation". Appellant tells the Court, in violation of Rule 8, that the various parties did not discuss the role, if any, that Bank of America played in the Settlement.

Appellant wants the Settlement Agreement to be a "contract" as is described in Patricia Grand Hotel v. Macquire Enterprises, 372 S.C. 634 (app 2007). However the Patricia Grand agreement was consummated in open court with a colloquy between the Court and both counsel as to the details of that agreement. There is, in Patricia Grand, a transcript to examine in terms of whether, and if, there was a meeting of the minds.

In the instant case the discussions between Counsel, the Mediator, and the individual parties cannot be revealed pursuant Rule 8 (a) Confidentiality, which says, in part;

(a) Confidentiality. Communications during a mediation settlement conference shall be confidential. Additionally, the parties, their attorneys and any other person present must execute an Agreement to Mediate that protects the confidentiality of the process. To that end, the parties and any other person present shall maintain the confidentiality of the mediation and shall not rely on, or introduce as evidence in any arbitral, judicial or other proceeding, any oral or written communications having occurred in a mediation proceeding, including, but not limited to:

- (1) Views expressed or suggestions made by another party or any other person present with respect to a possible settlement of the dispute;
- (2) Admissions made in the course of the mediation proceeding by another party or any other person present;
- (3) Proposals made or views expressed by the mediator;
- (4) The fact that another party had or had not indicated willingness to accept a proposal for settlement made by the mediator; or
- (5) All records, reports or other documents created solely for use in the mediation.

(b) Limited Exceptions to Confidentiality. This rule does not prohibit:

- (1) Disclosures as may be stipulated by all parties;
- (2) A report to or an inquiry from the Chief Judge for Administrative Purposes regarding a possible violation of these rules;

- (3) The mediator or participants from responding to an appropriate request for information duly made by persons authorized by the court to monitor or evaluate the ADR program;
- (4) Threats of harm or attempts to inflict physical harm made during the mediation sessions; and
- (5) Any disclosures required by law or a professional code of ethics.

Notwithstanding the prohibitions in Rule 8, Appellant tells the HOA (on February 17, 2016) that he had not eaten breakfast and "I do not think I was in the proper state of mind". Then, in his Brief, Appellant says "the parties knew very well that there may be other parties whose consent was necessary . . . ". Then Appellant says; "Bank of America is precisely the type of 'other authority' apart from the Picket Fences POA or Board of Review that the parties anticipated would be necessary"

Appellant injects his thoughts and his conclusions about what everyone else was thinking on February 5, 2016. But, in fact, he can't tell the Court what he was thinking, what others were thinking, and expect that these "thoughts" will be used by the Court to see whether or not we have a "contract" in play.

This, then, is the essential distinction between Patricia Grand and the instant case. The Patricia Grand Court knew exactly what the parties said; it had a chance to ask questions about the agreement reached; and it recorded the answers in the transcript. In the instant case there can be no record, and there can be no "testimony" about what Appellant was thinking on February 5, 2016, or what Respondent was thinking. The Court was limited to what took place after Mediation on February 5, 2016.

But we know what Appellant was thinking after Mediation. After Mediation we have a series of emails, statements and admissions that culminate in the statement.

"I DO NOT WANT THE HOA TO APPROVE THE SETTLEMENT."

This simple, declaration sentence when taken with **"If I could relive one day of my life, it would be 05 Feb 2016. I cannot begin to adequately express my profound regret of signing that document. I am hoping the HOA will give me a second chance in this matter."**

It is these words, "profound regret" and "second chance" that the Court must examine and weigh. "Regret" suggests a mistake on the part of Appellant; and "second chance" underscores the concept of a mistake by Appellant.

While Patricia Grand could take the exact words of counsel (as to the agreement) and apply them to concepts like "plain meaning of the words the parties used at the time of the hearing."; and "it appears the parties had a meeting of the minds "; this Court doesn't have the ability to see what was said by either Counsel, or by the parties themselves, or by the Mediator, Mitch Griffith. It can't consider those words or what Appellant believed other people were thinking during the day-long mediation on February 5, 2016.

After the Mediation, and after discussing the matter with a lawyer from Chase Bank, the Appellant decided that Bank of America needed to be a party and, further, needed to approve the extinguishment of the maintenance easement. "but according to another attorney that I have consulted (he worked for Chase Bank), I did not have the legal authority to sign it. This is a direct quote from his email likewise George Sakakini does not have the legal authority to waive or modify easements that run with the land without the express consent of the lien holder, Bank of America."

The fact that this revelation, from another attorney, came after the Mediation, means that this was not a proviso that was "bargained for" by the parties at the Mediation on February 5, 2016. It was a proviso that is now, after the fact, being used by Appellant to attack the Court's enforcement of the Settlement Agreement. The claim that the Court ignored "bargained for"

language is simply wrong. It was a concept developed after the Mediation on February 5, 2016. It was a concept, among many, that the Appellant has now conjured-up in an effort to find some "reversible error" somewhere.

B. THE TRIAL COURT'S CONSTRUCTION OF THE SETTLEMENT CREATES A MANIFEST ABSURDITY WHICH WAS ERROR.

Appellant argues that failure by the Court to 'shoehorn' the Bank of America into the approval process is an absurdity "which is unambiguously manifest. . . . and that constructions that result in an absurdity are not favored under South Carolina law." As mentioned above, Appellant fails to mention that this "absurdity" became manifested after the Mediation on February 5, 2016.

Appellant does not mention that this "absurdity" was first communicated to LaShea DuBois on February 17, 2016 in an effort to prevent approval of the various contingencies. Or that this absurdity was part of a larger plan to derail the approval process.

As mentioned above, Appellant fails to say that this absurdity only became manifest after Appellant had sought an opinion from 'another lawyer' who worked for Chase Bank. Appellant fails to mention that this absurdity came after Appellant's companion disabled (with a laser) Respondent's security camera on February 6, 2016; and stopped the surveyor from making a survey of the new line on February 16, 2016.

Appellant fails to mention that (on February 17, 2016) he wrote to LaShea DuBoise saying;

I DO NOT WANT THE HOA TO APPROVE THIS SETTLEMENT.

When one looks at the totality of Appellant's behavior after February 5, 2016, his "absurdity argument" is overwhelmed by Appellants concerted, single-minded effort to find some reason to stop the process of approval.

Respondent's Motion was to stop Appellant's efforts; and to get the approvals (again) underway. Realizing he might be guilty of obstruction of the approval process Appellant sent another email to the HOA on February 23, 2016 which said, in part,

"In no way am I trying to repudiate the signed settlement."

Notwithstanding this last disclaimer - **In no way am I trying to repudiate the signed settlement**—his actions speak otherwise. And these actions brought on the Motion.

The Court apparently looked at Appellant's behavior and decided to discount the Appellant's argument that it was always intended that Bank of America be a party and be a part of the approval process.

Finally, the Court may have considered the Consent Order filed on March 3, 2016, wherein the case was restored to the docket. That Order was signed by Greg Galvin, Esquire, who then represented the Appellant. It said, in part,

"Furthermore this case shall not be tried until the parties herein fail to secure the approvals of the settlement provisions from the appropriate governing body of Picket Fences S/D, as detailed in the Settlement Agreement attached hereto." (Consent Order of March 3, 2016, R. p. 5)

It is important to know that this Consent Order, signed by Greg Galvin, a month before the hearing on March 30, 2016, acknowledges the "appropriate governing body" was "Picket Fences S/D". It is important to see that Bank of America was not mentioned in that Order signed by Greg Galvin, Attorney for George Sakakini. It is therefore not absurd that on February 5, 2016, that the Bank of America was not contemplated as being a part of the approval process.

C. THE TRIAL COURT'S CONSTRUCTION OF THE ALLEGED SETTLEMENT RENDERED PERFORMANCE IMPOSSIBLE.

Part of the relief that Respondent sought (on February 19, 2016 when she filed her Motion) was the stopping of Appellant's efforts to prevent or delay the approval by the HOA.

Appellant—in this finding of error—again argues that the Agreement was not 'ripe' and so the Court was premature in addressing this issue. Appellant again argues that the Court could not act until all of the approvals were secured by Respondent. But as late as on February 23, 2016 Appellant was telling the HOA that the Settlement was *void ab initio*.

Appellant essentially argues that as long as the approvals were not secured—and as long as he could delay or stop the approval process—Respondent was without a remedy. Respondent, according to this reasoning, could only watch while Appellant wrote his emails, physically blocked the surveyor and (his companion) attempted to disable her surveillance cameras.

Appellant's after-the-Mediation search for some reason to scuttle the Settlement Agreement now returns to the Bank of America and the 'impossibility' of performance by Appellant. But if one looks the covenants, specifically Section 7.6, one discovers that the easement in question only comes into play when the 'homesite' is within five (5) feet of the boundary line. If there are more than five (5) feet then there is no easement. Rather than discuss the distance between the house and the new boundary, Appellant's Counsel says,

"We cannot convey that mortgagor's recorded rights away without their consent. Now this is standard dirt law 101."

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